IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE AT KNOXVILLE

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ex rel.

LEANN MARSHALL and VIB PARTNERS.

:

Plaintiffs and Relators.

: Civil Action No. 3:17-cv-96

vs. : Judge Collier

:

LHC GROUP, INC. and

UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE MEDICAL CENTER HOME CARE SERVICES, LLC.

:

Defendants.

CONSOLIDATED AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF FEDERAL FALSE CLAIMS ACT

Jennifer M. Verkamp (admitted *pro hac vice*)
Frederick M. Morgan, Jr. (admitted *pro hac vice*)
Sonya A. Rao (*pro hac vice* being submitted)
Ian M. Doig (*pro hac vice* being submitted)
MORGAN VERKAMP LLC
35 East 7th Street, Suite 600

Cincinnati, OH 45202 Telephone: (513) 651-4400 Fax: (513) 651-4405

Email: jverkamp@morganverkamp.com rmorgan@morganverkamp.com

David A. Burkhalter, II, TN BPR #004771 D. Alexander Burkhalter, III, TN BPR #033642 Zachary J. Burkhalter, TN BPR #035956

The Burkhalter Law Firm, P.C.

111 S. Central Street Knoxville, TN 37902 Telephone: (865) 524-4974

Fax: (865) 524-0172

Email: david@burkhalterlaw.com alex@burkhalterlaw.com zach@burkhalterlaw.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page(s)

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	JURISDICTION AND VENUE	2
III.	PARTIES	3
IV.	RULE 9(b), FED. R. CIV. P., ALLEGATIONS	5
V.	RELEVANT LEGAL AND REGULATORY INFORMATION	6
	A. THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT	6
	B. THE MEDICARE PROGRAM	7
VI.	MATERIAL REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO GOVERNMENT PAYMENT FOR HOME HEALTH SERVICES	8
	A. OASIS ASSESSMENTS DETERMINE THE AMOUNT CMS PAYS FOR HOME HEALTH SERVICES	9
	 Medicare Home Health PPS Billing & Payment Methodology Case Mix Determines Adjustment of the National Standardized Episodic Rate and is Based on the OASIS Instrument 	
	B. MEDICARE PAYS ONLY FOR MEDICALLY NECESSARY SERVICES	18
	C. MEDICARE HOME HEALTH STAR RATING SYSTEM	19
VII.	FACTS	21
	A. OVERVIEW OF LHC AND ITS CORPORATE PROCESS	21
	B. LHC FALSIFIES OASIS ASSESSMENTS TO INCREASE REIMBURSEMENT AND IMPROVE RATINGS	24
	 LHC Managers Directed Clinicians to Change OASIS answers LHC Installed Software to Make the Fraud Easier to Employ Clinicians Had No Discretion to Reject the Changes When Clinicians Did Not Accept the Changes, LHC Managers Simply 	25 27
	Overrode Those Decisions 5 LHC Used Overrides to Falsely Inflate Quality Metrics	29 30



6. LHC Knew that the Overrides Were Being Inappropriately Used	36
C. LHC MANIPULATES THE NUMBER OF THERAPY AND NURSING	
VISITS PER EPISODE IN ORDER TO INCREASE PROFITS	38
LHC Used the SVP Software and Clinical Programs to Manipulate Visits and Increase its Profits	40
a. SVP's "Episodic Tool" Specifically Targeted Medicare	• • • •
Beneficiaries	42
b. LHC Directed its Personnel to Modify Plans of Care to	
Adhere to "Ceiling" and "Available" Points Limitations	
2. LHC Manipulated Therapy Visits/Plans of Care to Avoid LUPAs	46
3. LHC's Additional Manipulation of Therapy Buckets, Including Numbers of Visits	47
D. LHC KNOWINGLY CAUSES FALSE CLAIMS TO BE SUBMITTED	51
1. LHC's Knowing Conduct	51
2. LHC's Conduct Caused Claims to Federal Healthcare Programs	
E. LHC RETALIATED AGAINST MARSHALL FOR LAWFULLY	
RAISING CONCERNS ABOUT FRAUDULENT CONDUCT	62
VIII. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF	65
COUNT I: Violations of the Federal False Claims Act Against	((
Defendant LHC 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A)-(B), (G)	66
COUNT II: Violations of the Federal False Claims Act's Anti-Retaliation Provision by Defendants LHC and UTMC HCS 31 U.S.C. § 3730(H)	68
PRAYER FOR RELIEF	69
PRAYER FOR RELIEF	69



I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

- 1. Relators LeAnn Marshall and VIB Partners (collectively, the "Relators") bring this action alleging that Defendant LHC Group, Inc. ("LHC") violated the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 *et seq*.
- 2. Relators allege that, since at least 2011 to present, Defendant LHC has submitted false claims to the United States for the provision of therapy and nursing services provided by its facilities to home health patients insured by federal healthcare programs, including the Medicare program.
- 3. More specifically, in order to inflate payments that it receives from federal healthcare programs, LHC implements a corporate-wide scheme in which it directs its facilities to systematically falsify the coding and assessment of patients' health conditions, and the number of therapy and nursing visits provided to patients.
- 4. To carry out the aforementioned scheme, LHC directs its clinicians and managers to falsify Outcome and Assessment Information Set ("OASIS") assessments to claim greater reimbursement than the patients' conditions warrant, without regard to the reasonableness and necessity of care. This scheme to falsify records occurs both through direction to clinicians to accept corporately-directed changes to their clinical assessments, and through after-the-fact computer overrides by LHC management.
- 5. LHC also uses a proprietary software called Service Value Points ("SVP") to falsely skew the number of therapy and nursing visits, by prioritizing profitability over clinical decision-making. As a result of these schemes, LHC routinely falsifies records to support the eligibility of patients for the billed home health services.



- 6. LHC also directs its clinicians and managers to make patients appear worse on admission and better on discharge, without regard to the patient's actual condition, in order to falsify quality improvement data used by Medicare to assign star-quality ratings to LHC's agencies. By manipulating is star-quality rating scores, LHC fraudulently inflated revenue in states where Medicare's Home Health Value Based Purchasing pilot program operates.
- 7. Because the OASIS assessment and the star-quality ratings directly tie to the amount of payment that LHC and its facilities receive, as further described herein, LHC's conduct is material to the Government's decision to pay claims for services submitted to public healthcare programs, including Medicare.
- 8. LHC's knowing, and ongoing, conduct has caused the submission of false claims to federal healthcare programs by its facilities nationwide.
- 9. LHC and Defendant University of Tennessee Medical Center Home Care Services, LLC ("UTMC HCS") also retaliated against, and ultimately terminated, Marshall on June 2, 2016, after she objected to and tried to stop LHC's fraudulent conduct in violation of the False Claims Act. Defendants' conduct violated the FCA's anti-retaliation provisions, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h).

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 10. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 31 U.S.C. § 3732 and has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because both LHC and UTMC HCS transact business in this District.
- 11. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) because Defendant operates and transacts business within this district.



DOCKET

Explore Litigation Insights



Docket Alarm provides insights to develop a more informed litigation strategy and the peace of mind of knowing you're on top of things.

Real-Time Litigation Alerts



Keep your litigation team up-to-date with **real-time** alerts and advanced team management tools built for the enterprise, all while greatly reducing PACER spend.

Our comprehensive service means we can handle Federal, State, and Administrative courts across the country.

Advanced Docket Research



With over 230 million records, Docket Alarm's cloud-native docket research platform finds what other services can't. Coverage includes Federal, State, plus PTAB, TTAB, ITC and NLRB decisions, all in one place.

Identify arguments that have been successful in the past with full text, pinpoint searching. Link to case law cited within any court document via Fastcase.

Analytics At Your Fingertips



Learn what happened the last time a particular judge, opposing counsel or company faced cases similar to yours.

Advanced out-of-the-box PTAB and TTAB analytics are always at your fingertips.

API

Docket Alarm offers a powerful API (application programming interface) to developers that want to integrate case filings into their apps.

LAW FIRMS

Build custom dashboards for your attorneys and clients with live data direct from the court.

Automate many repetitive legal tasks like conflict checks, document management, and marketing.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Litigation and bankruptcy checks for companies and debtors.

E-DISCOVERY AND LEGAL VENDORS

Sync your system to PACER to automate legal marketing.

